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has hardly changed over the centuries, except in the spelling of its original Saxon name. It was Gydden Leh or Ghidderleia at the time of Doomsday, Giddeleia and variations in the 12th century, Guddelegh, Gudeleghe and Giddeley in the 13th century, and finally Gidley or Gidleigh. Although tradition claims that the name derives from the Danish princess Gydda, who owned the manor and was the mother of King Harold, the English Placename Society comes down in favour of a derivation from the Saxon word "Gydda" meaning a clearing (curiously the same spelling as the princess' name) combined with "leah" meaning land not under cultivation. In 1630 one Westcote wrote in his diary, "passing from Chagford we are traveling to the moor to find Gidleigh, where if we take not heed we may soon wander and stray and so make longer stay in this coarse place than we willingly would". In those days, the lanes were tracks and water-scored channels through mud and rock, only fit for pack animals. Even today, with a confusion of lanes, bridle paths and foot paths, you will feel rewarded on arriving at this ancient hamlet - a gem of a place nestling in a fold between the 900 and 1000 foot contour lines. It was never more than some scattered farmsteads and a few cottages surrounding the fortified manor house. In 1878 the population was 150 with 29 dwellings. Today it stands at just below 100 with a slight increase in the number of habitations. Local pre-history stretches back to the Stone Age; in the three thousand or so years which followed, it is thought that this area was one of the most densely populated parts of the country. However, as the first millennium B.C. wore on, climatic changes forced the Bronze Age settlers to disperse, and by the time of the Roman occupation, the Moor and its environs had become depopulated, though it is doubtful if the Romans ever reached here. The geographical remoteness of Dartmoor ensured its detachment from the political disturbance of the Dark Ages, and it is assumed that a sparse Saxon population scratched a living from the in- country bordering the Moor.

 recorded for his services in the campaign by the gift of many confiscated Saxon West Country Estates including the manor of Giddeleia; these estates numbered 797 at the time of Doomsday. Prior to Montain's takeover, Giddeleia was held by a Saxon priest or presbyter named Godwin. This is recorded in Domesday, so we know of the existence of a Saxon chapel at Gidleigh in 1066, and it is likely that for many years before there was a wooden or stone place of worship on or near to the site of today's church. Godwin won favour with Montain, who confirmed him as a tenant of the Gidleigh estate and priest of the church there, and Godwin's liability for tax is recorded in Domesday. This appointment by the Norman earl was almost a unique gesture since priests from across the Channel were being appointed to the English livings; Wulfstan, Bishop of Worcester, is believed to be the only other Saxon priest who continued to hold office under the Conquest. Eventually a small Norman chapel was built, and would have occupied part of the area of the present church, which is dedicated to the Holy Trinity. The oldest part of the building is the thirteenth century south wall of the chancel, and that coincides with the first name on the list of Rectors to be seen on the board in the church; it is assumed that Godwin's name is omitted because of the gap in records between Domesday and the 13th century, accounted for by the ravages of damp and rodents and disregard for posterity's interest. Even so, the names of incumbents and patrons goes back further that most Devon churches, despite it being a "coarse place". This sturdy little church immediately imparts to the visitor a feeling of welcome. Its tree-like granite columns support wide arches which opens up the body of the church with light and a sense of space, belying the size of the building. The wagon ceilings are of Devon oak, plastered, but with exposed carved bosses. The entire building is constructed in tooled freestone granite from the Moor, as no face quarrying occurred before 1700. The simplicity of the church relates to the economy of a poor parish unable to afford to build in the fashionable Devon perpendicular of the time. The battlement tower contains a ring of five bells, four of which date prior to an inventory of 1553 and are amongst the oldest in England. Unhappily, they are no longer rung as the renewal of the bell frame is beyond the financial capacity of the parish, and they are now chimed ("clocked") for services. The rebuilding of the church in the 15th century was by the Coode family who were the inheritors of the right of avowson (patronage), and it then stood within the manor castle grounds.

   Page 2  Page 3 Home setstats 1

Castle dates from about 1324 and was built over an earlier castle by Sir William Prouz, a powerful knight and overlord in the district. It was never a true castle in the military sense, but rather a fortified manor house. In the 17th century much of the building was demolished to make way for a new manor house which was named Gidleigh Barton, and was considerably smaller than the originally thatched. In addition to the castle keep, extensive foundation ruins are still evident. The dividing wall between the churchyard and the castle property was probably built at the same time as the new Barton. Returning to the church, the wonderful chancel screen, made about 1530, excites admiration. Gidleigh church and that of Throwleigh escaped any marked damage by Cromwellian forces in the Civil War. After the Reformation, the screen had been remodeled and had originally carried a gallery, the doorway to which remains in the North wall. The screen is a fine example of Devonian craftsmanship in what is known as fluted perpendicular style carving, with a pair of center doors. Note the pomegranate emblem of Henry VIII's wife, Katherine of Aragon, and all the carved uprights, no two of which are alike. It has been described as "rustic and even barbaric" in its execution. The icon-like base panels were redecorated in Victorian times with transfer paintings of saints. The whole screen was repainted in 1853 to the artists own ideas, entirely altering the original colour scheme of gold, white and green to the present predominantly gold and blue. The "new" moor granite pulpit and lectern date from the same year; the lovely lead-lined font, however, dates from the 15th century, its graceful wooden cover being made in 1823. The carved moor granite altar piece was passed on from Throwleigh church during interior alterations there. The churchyard is one of the only a few in Britain bisected by a stream. A hasty moorland brook is crossed by a small clapper bridge, and the yard is particularly pretty in spring with clouds of snowdrops. It was probable during middle 19th century improvements to the church that the memorial stones were lifted from the interior floor and placed on the exterior north wall. These mainly commemorate the Vogewell family who were important landowners in the 17th century. The inscriptions were reincised and painted in red lead in 1982, traces of this colour having been found in deep recesses of some of the letters. The coffin- shaped tombstone at the base of the porch's east wall is considered to date from the 14th century. It may have been removed from within the church at the same time as the Vogell stones, but there is no record of this: neither is it known who it commemorates, , but its style indicates someone of importance.

   the brook and beyond the wall lie the remains of a church or priest's house. Out of the church, left along the lane, which was at one time within the castle yard, is an old shallow well, housed in arched stone, which was one of the water supply points for the castle. Further on are the remains of the medieval Gidleigh pound used for enclosing the stray beasts. Across the junction of the lanes, the old church path from Moortown which is also part of Mariner's Way, is signposted. The Mariner's Way is a route across country alleged to have been created by sailors trekking from Dartmouth, where they had failed to join ship, to Bideford. Most Atlantic sailing ships called at Bideford for extra cargo after rounding Land's End; this would have allowed the sailors about three days to accomplish the walk. Within the Parish, now a united benefice with Chagford and Throwleigh, lies the prehistoric Bronze Age village at Scorhill. Nowhere on Dartmoor are the views more beautiful than those from Scorhill looking south west over the sources of the teign and Wallabrook. Before the abstraction of water from the lower reaches of the Teign and before the recent advent of wild mink, these gentle head waters sheltered the breeding salmon and sea trout which had fought their way up the rivers' gorges. The evidence of early settlements is clear from the innumerable remains of stone round houses. It can be seen how an almost continuous belt of villages extended from Fernworthy, past Kestor, through Scorhill, along the moorside above Throwleigh, and on through the slopes of Cosden (Cawsand) to Belstone. At Scorhill one is naturally drawn to follow the old peat diggers' pony tracks, which in turn seem to have kept to the line of the bronze age street with its hutments on either side, going down to the water and passing the famous Scorhill stone circle. The exact purpose of this huge circle, which is perhaps the finest in Dartmoor, is unknown, though it may have been an assembly point or religious center, drawing the people from the villages in either direction. The sites of these early villages are always related to the nearness of the bountiful water supply for men and their animals. From Scorhill, this part of the Teign rushes down through a gorge to its junction with the South Teign below Gidleigh Park Hotel. Thence it peruses a winding course to Chagford, through woods of Fingle and Bridford and on to meet the sea at Teignmouth. Returning to Gidleigh, if a right turn is made outside the church, and presently another right turn toward Berrydown, within two minutes a track to the left will be observed marked yet again "Mariner's Way". This leads to a beautiful walk along the upper reaches of the Teign gorge amidst woodland carpeted with bilberries and wild flowers. The rushing river is crossed by a footbridge leading to a steep incline known locally as "Glassy Steps", which meets the lane to Kestor Rock. This could be an hour well spent, or perhaps a little longer if the Rock is climbed to see the panoramic view and the little dew-filled "magic wishing pool"on the top of the tor.
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returning to Gidleigh past the castle and pound just on the other side of Throwleigh Lane a most interesting walk will be found by following the Mariner's Way sign-post to Moortown. This now little used path came to be known as Church Path, as a short cut to church by the people of Moortown hamlet. It was also the route to a much earlier brookside chapel. Nowadays, as the ruined chapel is concealed by foliage, eyes must be kept alert to detect it. There is an authenticated sad story about this Chapel of La Wallen, which is believed to date back at least to the 13th century. The chapel was probably always a private one, but, licensed as connected with Gidleigh Church. As was customary, wandering monks took up appointments in these small chapels throughout the country to care and to celebrate daily masses. The word "wallen" or "walland" relates to the Norman definition of a walled field, so it is worth noting the truly beautiful workmanship of the Norman granite boulder built walls of the wallands on the way to Moortown. The chapel of La Wallen is dedicated to the Blessed Virgin and the writer entertains the idea that the spoil of granite building stones by the side of the Chapel Brook could be the remains of a priest's cell or lodging, for where else would the monk eat and sleep? The Register of Bishop Grandisson of Exeter tell how a Clerk in Orders named Robert de Middelcote was indicted for trial by King's Justice Thomas de Chageforde. He had been waiting in prison on a charge of "maltreating", on the 28th March, 1328 at the Chapel, Agnes the daughter of Roger the Miller of Gidleigh Mill, and the murder of the child she was carrying. Was the femininity of a woman attending a lonely Mass at this isolated chapel too great a strain on the avowed celibacy of the young priest? Was there a clandestine love affair? Was the unborn child his? Was there a quarrel and violence resulting in a stillborn birth? We shall never know. The records indicate that the priest fled the district, breaking into several houses, mostly in the area of the Tidal Teign, to gain a little money and sustenance. He was caught a few weeks later on Haldon Hill near Exeter, and subsequently dubbed "The Mad Monk of Haldon". He claimed benefit of clergy, which meant that he could be tried by his peers in the Cathedral and not the courts. The trial was fixed for 1st June, 1328, but what transpired at the hearing, or if indeed it was held at all, is not recorded. Possibly he escaped from prison or committed suicide; or as could happen in those days, his defence was successful in getting his accusers registered as perjurers. However, the people of Gidleigh must have considered him guilty, and the chapel desecrated. Shortly afterwards in 1332, the wealthy heiress Dame Alicia de Moeles, chatelaine of Gidleigh Castle, and owner of the manor of Gidleigh and Throwleigh, obtained license from the Bishop for a priest under her patronage, Richard de Chageforde, to celebrate Mass in her newly built Chapel of La Wallen on the hill above Chagford bridge. It is curious that both chapels should bear the same name and both be dedicated to the Blessed Virgin. This has caused a lot of confusion in the history of the area, but to the writer's mind the dedication of the new chapel bears witness to the closure of that at Gidleigh. In any event the old chapel fell into disuse, and generations later the owner of the land turned it into a cattle byre with alterations to the windows, doors and walls. A 19th century owner of the Gidleigh chapel decided that he would prevent common usage by cattle of this once sanctified building, by planting six acorns in the broken tiled floor. His plan had been fulfilled, as today five stout oaks have survived, pushing off the roof and almost blocking the interior.

Compiled and written by the late C. A. Howis Croxford, formerly of "Trula" Throwleigh, Devon
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